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INTRODUCTION



			 


			 


			Born on October 10, 1901, in Borgonovo (Stampa), a mountain village in Italian Switzerland, Alberto Giacometti moved to Paris on January 1, 1922. Except for wartime and regular visits with his family, he was to live and work in the artistic district of Montparnasse all his life. He later explained why he chose the French capital: “My father reckoned it would be a good idea for me to go and work in a free academy, as he himself had in his youth at the Académie de la Grande Chaumière, to draw and to paint. At first I rejected the idea, in response to which he simply dropped the subject—it was this that made me determined to go after all.”1 This testimony reveals two distinct characteristics of the artist’s personality. On the one hand, it reveals the importance of his artistic affiliation: his father, a painter famous in Switzerland, initiated him into art at a very early age, following his son’s career step by step and lavishing encouragement and support on him. On the other, the manner in which the artist recalls this memory is a sign both of his intransigence and his paradoxical nature. If Alberto Giacometti is one of the very greatest artists of the twentieth century, he is also one of its most outstanding and most original personalities. All those who spent any time with him, knowing him well or just in passing, attest to his individuality and to his unyielding nature, characteristics that over the years gradually seem to have been carved into his facial features. “Giacometti, granitically subtle and full of astounding perceptions, at root very wise, wanting to convey what he sees, which is perhaps not as wise as all that when you can see as he does,” wrote Samuel Beckett.2 The title of his first work to attract attention, Gazing Head, seems to sum up the man. Deep down, in the highly individual exercise of looking, man and artist converge. His gaze was described by friends, lovers, and models many times: at the same time seductive and penetrating, mocking and bewildering. No one could remain indifferent to his presence. Whether in his tiny studio or on the terrace of a Paris café, his unmistakable figure, like his insatiable curiosity and love of contradiction, made him the focus of attention. “Unfeigned in his open-heartedness and an enthusiastic conversationalist who readily juggled paradoxes, Alberto Giacometti was fond of playing devil’s advocate, and generally took up a position contrary to what the other person said,” Michel Leiris recalled. 


			This spirit of resistance was also a hallmark of his art and his trajectory through the art of the avant-garde. “Never let myself be influenced by anything,”3 he wrote in one of his notebooks. Giacometti acknowledged that he had learned from his father, and then from Bourdelle, but that he outgrew them all, rejecting any sign of subordination. Later on, he freed himself from his early mentors, Zadkine, Lipchitz, and Brancusi, by turning to surrealism. In spite of the almost instant recognition of his work, and André Breton’s admiration and friendship, he soon abandoned constructing the surrealist objects that had made him famous and returned to the model. This refusal to join any school or adopt any backward-looking ideology has tended to relegate him to the margins of art history. Yet Giacometti is a man rooted in his own time, a committed modern, even when swimming against the tide or finding himself out of step with current trends. The lesson he absorbed from modernity was one of freedom and a commitment to truth. And it is this which, as he edged away from modernism, led him back to the wellspring of art. Perfectly at home in prehistoric, ancient Egyptian, or Sumerian art, his work is a cross between the daily encounter with the live model and the timeless forms of archaic prototypes. “The entire art of the past, from all epochs, all civilizations, emerges before me; everything occurs simultaneously, as if space has taken the place of time.”4 Space and time, proximity and distance: these are the coordinates that his entire oeuvre strives to juxtapose, to fuse, even. As Jean Genet observed: “Their beauty [of Giacometti’s sculptures] seems to me to stem from the incessant, uninterrupted to-and-fro movement from the most extreme distance to the closest familiarity: this to-and-fro doesn’t end, and that’s how you can tell they’re in movement.”5


			The rejection of stability, of authority, of monumentality is the salient character of an oeuvre whose foundations the artist questioned daily. Straining towards an accomplishment that lay forever in the future, Giacometti made the expression of artistic doubt the mainspring of his creativeness. Carving, sculpting, painting, drawing, writing were all facets of the same tireless quest that kept him on the alert, mobilizing all his many powers. His deliberately frugal lifestyle, his relentless work-rate, his angst, and his constant dissatisfaction may have ruined his health, but they never sapped his optimism or his faith in art. His ultimate goal, at once elementary and paradoxical, was to represent what he saw. To do this, Giacometti did not limit himself to the customary tenets of realism nor to a face-to-face with the model that kept him cooped up in his studio day and night. Every moment confirmed the experience that truth is fleeting, as he had foretold in his youth: “The world really is a sphinx before which we are forever standing, a sphinx that stands forever before us and which we question.”6


			An artistic inquiry become matter and form—this could be the definition of this singular oeuvre, the work of an artist who was always expanding the confines of fixed identity: “I don’t know who I am, or who I was. I identify with myself, and I don’t. Everything is completely contradictory, but perhaps I have remained exactly as I was when a little boy of twelve.”7


			

		




		

			
CHAPTER 1 



			Childhood 


			 


			Alberto retained fond memories of his childhood all of his life. After him came Diego, a year younger (1902), Ottilia (1904), and Bruno (1907). In the rustic living room of their house in the village, where they played their earliest games and first learned about the world, the siblings’ life revolved around their mother, Annetta. A protective and loving presence, this formidable woman kept the core of the family together for as long as she lived. The house was flanked by a barn that had been converted into a studio and stood opposite the Piz Duan inn, established by Alberto’s paternal grandfather and run by Uncle Otto. A network of cousins spread throughout the valley. Both Annetta and husband Giovanni’s families had had roots in the Grisons region for generations. Stampa is located in Italian Switzerland, in the heart of the valley of Bregaglia, a few miles from the Italian border. With a population of about a hundred, the village nestles between two very steep and narrow mountainsides, along the banks of a river. In daily life the family spoke a mix of Italian and bregagliotto, the local patois. The road to the mountain pastures for the sheep ran past the windows of the Giacomettis’ house. The villagers all took their water from a communal well, a meeting place where people would pass the time of day. At that time, the isolated village entered hibernation during the snowy months, when the cold is crisp and daylight scarce. In fine weather, however, visitors would flock to the chalet in Maloja, the upper village of the commune of Stampa, on the banks of Lake Sils, where in 1910 the family started to stay for the summer. There, the Giacomettis would receive friends and also rub shoulders with the international clientele at the Palace hotel, as famous for its setting as for the well-heeled crowd frequenting it. Guests describe the family atmosphere as cheerful and welcoming.1 Italian or Swiss cousins would cross paths with friends and artists passing through. In adulthood, Alberto would return every year until his mother’s death, two years before his own. He would continue to work there in the large studio that remains intact today. 


			Drawings by Giovanni and Alberto provide a glimpse into everyday life at Stampa. The family would gather in the main room, lit by a large gas-lamp giving out a greenish glow.2 (The Giacomettis were the first in the village to be supplied with the new fuel, evidence of their relative financial ease.) The low ceilings and walls are all paneled in wood.  Giovanni’s pictures—landscapes and portraits of his children, mainly—line the room. A very large oriental rug of a dull red covers the floor in the living room. The furniture is rustic, except for the exotic touch introduced by the two Bugatti armchairs in the studio. The Alpine décor, like being inside a marquetry box, is the epitome of provincial tranquility. Mother sews at the corner of the table, leaning towards any source of light. Life is ordered by the tick-tock of the “sun and moon” clock that hangs by the door. The children gather round a boardgame, the counters spread over the table, while Bruno practices his violin. Everyone poses for Father while he draws. The house is surrounded by snow, immersed in whiteness. The mountain landscape is steep and wild. The significant days in the year are religious festivals, birthdays, and anniversaries, as well as their father’s exhibitions. 


			The forest nearby is a place of adventure as well as a playground. Alberto would talk about his experiences and familiar landmarks, in scenery that could be in turn protective and threatening. The most important element was the snow, which he waited for impatiently and which was occasionally so deep that he dreamed of building an underground nest. “I would have liked to have spent all winter there, all alone, all shut away.”3 Enormous boulders, one of which he would use as a hiding-place, stood on the edge of the forest undergrowth, sometimes friendly, sometimes disturbing. “I remember that for two summers at least, the only thing I could see in my surroundings was a large stone about eight hundred meters [875 yards] from the village.” Eroded by water, the block had a hole hidden at its base where the children would slide. “I was overjoyed, crouching in the little cave in the bottom. I could hardly fit; I couldn’t ask for anything more.” Another block, on the other hand, reminded him of  “a narrow and pointed pyramid,” and was seen as an opaque and frightening mass. “The stone immediately looked to me like a living creature, hostile, menacing. It threatened everything: ourselves, our games, our cave. Its very existence was unbearable to me and I immediately felt—since I was unable to make it disappear—that it was better I ignore it, forget it, and speak about it to nobody.” 


			Like many children in the countryside, Alberto’s relationship with nature verged on the animistic. This feeling of a rapport between natural objects and the human body lasted well into adulthood and is reflected in the works of his maturity. He used images such as “a woman like a tree, a head like a rock” in describing certain sculptures, establishing a system of equivalence between humankind and nature. During vacations, Alberto would visit his relatives with his brothers and sister. “No road leads through the village. There, in a house with a white rosebush growing up the wall, lived an elderly member of the family. I can see her now, sitting close by the window with a large illustrated Bible on her knees. A crowd of happy children would gather around her and listen to the beautiful stories from that magnificent book. We all loved little David and all pitied poor Absalom. Many hours would pass but our sweet old lady never got tired. When the children left her, she once again became absorbed in reading that huge book to herself.”4 


			Between Stampa, with its hundred inhabitants, and Bregaglia, a village standing at an altitude of eighteen hundred meters (5,900 ft.) near the pass at Maloja, the children lived the lives of remote mountain dwellers, centered on domestic activities and connected to the outside world by letters and the radio. 


			The family lived in the shadow of Giovanni, whose artistic career developed smoothly. Increasingly successful, he was soon garnering national honors. Although he lived way out in the country, he maintained regular contact with many artists, such as Giovanni Segantini, who lived in Maloja, Cuno Amiet, who was Alberto’s godfather, and Ferdinand Hodler, who was Bruno’s. Hodler, whose impact on  Giovanni’s early work is palpable, was on the way to becoming a Swiss national treasure.  Giovanni also greatly admired the already famous Segantini, adopting his divisionist style and Alpine themes. Amiet was a friend from way back and had been a fellow student in Munich and Paris. In the living room hung a picture from Amiet’s Pont-Aven period, given to Giacometti as a wedding present.5 Traveling regularly,  Giovanni also remained in contact with various outposts of modernity. In 1907, he visited Paris, where he saw the Cézanne retrospective and the Fauves’ room, the two salient events at the Salon d’Automne. The following year he met up with the expressionists of Die Brücke, which Amiet had joined. In 1911, together with Fauve artists, he took part in the annual exhibition of the Berliner Secession, with works in a Fauvist style. Giovanni’s appearance of self-confidence, his russet-red, neatly trimmed goatee and piercing blue eyes concealed an extremely gentle individual, one who was utterly devoted to his children and to their education. Both studio and house were filled with books.  Giovanni’s cultural legacy, a blend of the three languages of Italian, German, and French, which all spoke fluently, lay at the intersection of these three zones of influence on both sides of the Alps. Years later, Alberto was to find that he shared this particular culture with Balthus. It was a culture in which Romanticism and symbolism continued to play a role, even in avant-garde art movements. Philosophy and literature were also hugely important, as was tradition, which was fundamental to education. This culture left a lasting mark on Alberto, and lay behind many of the choices that foreshadowed his artistic career. 


			During the aesthetic polemic, which, within the modern movement in Switzerland, set followers of Hodler against Cézanne,6 Giovanni remained faithful to his onetime master and friend, even though his painting seemed more in tune with that of Cézanne. He never tired of depicting the Piz Duan inn—his own personal Montagne Sainte-Victoire—while his groups of peasants are redolent of Cézanne’s famous Game of Cards. After passing through an expressive phase of intense colorism with similarities to the Fauves, Giovanni’s work settled down to a relatively classic synthesis between neo-impressionism and Cézannism that he was never to abandon. This position reflects his character, at once inquisitive about advanced artistic thought and anchored to a traditional conception of art. Writing about futurism, he remarked: “The post-impressionists, synthetists, cubists, and others have been left far behind. What I like about the futurists is that they have devised, on the level of theory, a completely novel conception of art and life; but what they have managed to do on the artistic level rather seems to prove to me that intriguing theories do not yet constitute a work of art.”7


			During the course of World War I he had certainly been aware of the Dada movement, which was making waves in Zurich; his cousin, Augusto Giacometti, occasionally participated in the group’s activities. Later, however, neither he nor Alberto ever referred to it.  Giovanni focused instead on artists or movements that could bring him not just new theoretical conceptions but also ideas about art he might adhere to. For Alberto’s father, the question of representation was central. The organic bond between art and nature was the essential lesson he was to inculcate into his son, though he left him free to take up his own aesthetic position. 


			Alberto was not afraid of asserting his individuality even as a child. “He read a great deal and drew all the time, never playing with others, or very seldom,” his younger brother Diego recalled.8 Still very young, Alberto would follow his father into the studio, making models and painting. “I had seen some reproductions of small busts on a base and I immediately wanted to do the same. My father bought me some Plasteline and I got started.”9 Among his brothers and sister, who all benefited from free access to the studio, he was noted for his artistic gifts and industriousness. “Alberto has made progress in drawing and painting. He has a lot of energy, and everything he undertakes, he does it seriously, even games,”10 his father observed. Open-minded and tolerant, Giovanni even forgave his son the occasional childish eccentricity, as when, for instance, Alberto “finished off” with a lick of paint a bust of his father made by his friend, the sculptor Rodo.11 “I painted the eyes in blue, the hair, the moustache, and the beard in red, the skin pink,” Alberto related, adding: “My father was a little surprised. Perhaps he thought I lacked respect for Rodo’s work, but I didn’t get into trouble.”12 In the Protestant middle school at Schiers, where Alberto was sent as a boarder from 1915 to 1919, his classmates admired  Giovanni’s art, engaging in animated debate about the new painting. Alberto took part, without taking up a position in the arguments. His classmates remember him as being both reserved and self-assured, friendly but remote. When he was passionate about something, however, he could show immense concentration and patience. Reading extensively, he had a burning enthusiasm for German Romantic literature and adored Shakespeare and Ibsen. He also plunged into the great bildungsromans: Goethe, Gottfried Keller, Thomas Mann, and Hermann Hesse. He devoured art books, and, blessed with a first-rate visual memory, he amassed an iconographic knowledge on which he drew throughout his career. Once he spent his return bus fare on a book on Rodin and exhausted himself on the long walk back in the freezing cold. At boarding school his artistic talent was soon noticed and encouraged. Exceptionally, he was even allotted a space to create a studio, where he spent his spare time and where he drew and carved portraits of his classmates, such as Simon Bérard and Lucas Lichtenhan, his closest friends. So intense was his drive to draw the world around him that everyone had to put up with his demands to draw them. “This desire to give visual witness was so strong,” his brother Bruno observed, “that sometimes it become almost harassment for those on the receiving end. When Alberto used to draw me playing some child’s game, there was always a moment when I felt the intensity of his gaze had transformed me into his prey. He would stare at me so fixedly it was like being trapped in a web, while the spider prepared to grab me and never let me go.”13


			Alberto already possessed the stubbornness and hypnotic power that his models would later mention. “Usually so gentle, so kind, and generally easy to live with, as soon as he found himself in front of a model, he would become tyrannical. You couldn’t move an inch. He’d be saying constantly, ‘Look! look! look! don’t move!’ It was already essential for him to capture the glance of his model. The first bust he made of me, when I was about eight, I remember it well: he wanted it to be exactly life size, and he had an old, rather rusty iron compass which he used to take measurements of my head. When he brought the points of the compass toward my eyes, it would terrify me. I felt like he was about to stick it into them, while Alberto, thinking solely about his work, had no idea that a child might be frightened by something that seemed so normal to an adult.”14 


			If Alberto had little hesitation in following in his father’s footsteps, it was chiefly because he was already satisfied with his earliest sketches. “Rather quickly, I started to draw after nature and I had the impression that I’d mastered my craft so well that I was doing exactly what I wanted.”15 Although later Alberto suffered serious self-doubts, remaining unsure of his ability to translate into his art what he saw, initially he experienced a sense of achievement. “I followed the haymaking. I drew the peasants. I drew to communicate, to dominate. My pencil was my weapon. I became arrogant. Nothing could withstand me.” This was a success that, as an adult, no amount of effort could ever recapture; indeed, he was to turn away from it as sterile “pretension.”16 The sculpture portraits of his brothers and sister modeled out of Plasteline at the age of thirteen do indeed bear witness to a precocious gift for portraiture. He also produced many drawings and watercolors, copies of works by old masters and landscapes, as well as sketches of his friends. “I can see myself in Stampa near the window, in about 1914, engrossed in copying a Japanese print. I could describe its every detail.”17 Many of these copies have survived. Taken from art books discovered in his father’s studio or at school, they show his perseverance and a great fidelity to the model. Engravings, in particular those of Dürer, were a fruitful source of inspiration. In addition, pen-and-ink portraits of his classmates and his family reveal a use of lines and incisions characteristic of engraving. If these drawings possess little of the atmospheric quality of his father’s works, his watercolors seem closer, in both their treatment of volume and color scheme. Thus, the young artist’s aesthetics would vary according to the technique deployed: naturalist for sculpture, in which he sought resemblance above all; divisionist in painting, following his father’s lead; and classical for drawing, which he considered primarily as a tool to train the eye and hand. In Schiers he also got to know wood-engraving, a traditional technique which his father was fond of. If Giovanni encouraged his son’s artistic proclivities, he also left him free to adopt his own manner. “Even when my way of working became increasingly different from his, my father was always understanding of everything I was doing and very interested in what I was working on.”18 


			 Giovanni understood that if Alberto was to pursue his artistic path, his son would have to shake off his father’s influence and forge his own style. He always encouraged his son in this direction, without ever failing to remind him of what, in his eyes, constituted the essential nature of art. 


			Looking back on his past, Alberto acknowledged: “I cannot imagine a childhood and youth happier than those I spent with my father and all my family.”19 Recalling his happy childhood surrounded by a loving, carefree family, he still could not quite blot out the darker premonitions that already dogged him. Solitary and anxious, Alberto was an extremely willful child. Angst-ridden, he felt compelled to impose order on the world around him. Bruno revealed some of his elder brother’s manias; strange little compulsions he relied on and that he sometimes would impose upon his entourage, like arranging shoes in order of size or laying out his socks completely flat.20 When he reached adulthood, Alberto’s mania for order appeared significant enough for him to refer to some of its manifestations himself. “But why, when I was a child, did I find it so hard and so annoying when sawing up logs in the kitchen in the evening to put the bits of wood in the case? The biggest just had to be at the bottom, with the lightest on top and all the other various weights in between. How many times must I have emptied the case to be quite sure that there wasn’t one crushed at the bottom or in the middle. All this effort drove me mad and I would have liked to have given up; but no, and, though impatient and beside myself, every time I would start over.”21 


			Such fixation on details testifies to an obsessive nature that resurfaced throughout his life. He described himself prey to similar symptoms even in the indescribable chaos of his private studio: “It never seemed to end, I was overwhelmed, crushed by the task, then, disgruntled, I’d leave it and get going on something else, but it would often start again a second later with the shoes the socks the doors I’d close too gently or too loudly or with any old objects on a table if they touched, a bit of paper, a piece of string, an inkwell. Quickly, I would clean up whatever was just in front of me, not daring to look any further (otherwise I’d be lost), I’d move the objects away from one other, but at what distance should they be placed? They were always slightly too near or slightly too far apart, then I would imperceptibly move a small, torn piece of paper, not thinking for a moment of throwing it in the waste basket, I knew that there everything would begin again. Still today I often move objects apart and the excruciating feeling I have in front of the Jewish wife,22 one of Rembrandt’s last pictures, has to come from the same source. At one time I had a photograph of this picture pinned to the wall, but I couldn’t bear the two hands laid over the woman’s eternally unmoving bust.”23 These irrepressible fears and phobias originating in childhood and that the traumas of life would rekindle, together with the familiar exorcisms the artist would perform to fend them off, reappeared in various circumstances throughout his life. 


			Like many children—although with him it was to last well beyond childhood—Alberto was haunted by morbid thoughts. His early drawings show an interest in folk tales, through which he often expressed an unbridled violence.  He drew Snow White’s transparent coffin and enjoyed tales of chivalry and knights, whose battles he depicted. Traces survive in his working notebooks, where armed soldiers or men hanged or shackled appear among sketches for sculptures. The accounts of his dreams when he was a child, such as he recorded them in some of his writings, teem with violence and cruelty. If the surrealist nature of such a literary exercise might lead one to suspect deliberate exaggeration, it is revealing that he retells one particularly violent dream in detail: “I remember that, around the same time, for months I could never fall asleep at night without first imagining myself walking through a thick forest in the twilight until I’d reached a gray castle standing in a remote and uncharted place. There I would kill two defenseless men, one of whom, aged about seventeen, always looked pale and frightened to me, while the other wore armor, the left side of which shone with something like gold. Then, after ripping off their dresses, I would rape two women, one of thirty-two, dressed all in black and with a face like alabaster, then her daughter, over whom floated white veils. The whole forest would resound to their screams and whimpering. I killed them, too, but very slowly (it had grown dark by this time), often beside a pond of stagnant, green water in front of the castle. Each time with minor variations. I then burned down the castle and, content, fell asleep.”24 


			Alberto, it should be said, was not afraid of provocation. Although timid, he liked to dominate in his relations with other people. “No one can purse their lips in such a friendly yet disarming way, nor let slip a wry smile, as well as Alberto can,” a classmate was to write, also hinting at his “strange superiority” in the academic and artistic fields.25 Throughout his life he remained determined to assert his independence and was loath to justify his actions. Only a man who wants to see himself as indifferent to the judgment of others can expose his innermost fantasies, as he was to on several occasions and in spite of his horror of shocking his parents. Both in writing and in conversation he would confess boldly to his manias and irrational fears, or to a morbid obsession which had roots in the unfathomable depths of childhood and which fed into his nightmares. It was in Schiers, where the echoes of the war were but a rumble, that he had his first personal experience of death. In March 1917, he was left distraught by the sudden death of his young Latin teacher. “It seems impossible that such a man has gone in this way, death is a great mystery.”26 The following year his school principal passed away.27 His correspondence with his classmate Lichtenhan, begun after the latter left the school, expresses his anguish at the threat these two deaths seem to represent to him. Simultaneously, he is fascinated with the depiction of mortality in literature. “I particularly liked the passage in which Wilhelm Meister’s young friend drowns. It is written in such a way that I often reread the story, each time finding it more beautiful.”28 


			This tormented imagination did not prevent him from being a happy-go-lucky child generally, one who enjoyed a joke and who filled his sketchbooks with caricatures. In his letters to Lichtenhan he would also express outpourings of emotion in front of nature. His walks through countryside and in the mountains stimulated poetic sentiments in keeping with his reading of the Romantics. Artistic discoveries, in books or during visits to exhibitions, were another source of excitement. Yet, among a wide range of emotions, which veered between extremes of poetic ecstasy and irrational terror, one feeling was more powerful and more comforting than all others: family love. This affection translated into regular letter-writing, which continued unabated well beyond his childhood, indeed, until his mother passed away two years before his own death.


			

		




		

			
CHAPTER 2



			Becoming an Artist


			 


			In 1919, Alberto asked his parents to let him leave the school at Schiers for a while to work with his father and put his artistic calling to the test. By then he was eighteen, and, in spite of sailing through the first semester examinations and the special arrangements made for him to practice his art, he had lost all enthusiasm for the teaching at the college and for studying in general. His brother Diego had joined him in the school and he had made friends with several pupils. Yet even this positive environment was not enough to pull him out of one of the low periods that periodically affected him. Giovanni took his teenage son’s dissatisfaction, along with his unwavering determination “to turn the light upon myself,”1 seriously. Giovanni realized that nothing could be gained by keeping Alberto in school against his will, since his son’s artistic vocation appeared real enough. With the principal’s approval, he agreed to take his son into his own care for three months, after which Alberto would return to school. During this time, Alberto’s skill and passionate commitment to an artistic career became clear. Although Giovanni would have preferred him to finish his schooling before starting studies in fine art, nothing could convince Alberto to return to Schiers, so his parents offered to enroll him at the École des Beaux-Arts in Geneva. Alberto jumped at the chance, but soon found himself reluctant to attend courses whose teachers did not have his father’s strengths. (Several years later, Alberto claimed to have spent no more than three days at the art school and erased the months in Geneva from his memory.) His mother considered this condescending and unthinking, and, in an exchange of letters that reveal the influence she held over her son, threatened to send him back to Schiers.2 So, despite his initial reservations, Alberto continued to attend the school, but on his own terms, as  Giovanni put it to Amiet. As one of the professors, his friend James Vibert, announced: “Your son, Alberto, after attending my class and that of Estoppey five or six times, suddenly left the school, only saying to the administration that he regretted having to leave us.”3 Vibert was reassuring, however: “I’m comforted by the thought that, with a temperament like his, even among savages, nothing will prevent him from finding his way.” Alberto then registered at the École des Arts Industriels, mainly attending courses on sculpting given by Maurice Sarkissoff, who belonged to the Archipenko circle in Paris. The only classes he seems to have followed with any dedication at this school, and which he continued even after leaving the establishment, were the sessions in life drawing. He showed little respect for the instructions given, however, and refused to employ the recommended techniques, as an anecdote, relayed by one of his fellow students, testifies. “A sturdy, somewhat doughy girl, Loulou, would pose naked. The routine was to lay the entire nude onto the sheet: head, arms, and legs. Giacometti had no truck with that. He was set on doing only what interested him. On the sheet of Ingres paper—and to the immense irritation of the teacher—he stubbornly drew, gigantic, one of the model’s feet.”4 This resistance, however, was less a sign of self-assertiveness than a feeling of powerlessness when faced with capturing the real. A virtuoso copier, Alberto found life drawing on the other hand extremely demanding. Frustrated by the challenge, he would return incessantly to the task, as if it were the be-all and end-all of the artistic process. Giovanni followed his son’s development, keeping Amiet informed. He did not hide Alberto’s half-hearted attendance at the school from his friend, and it does not seem to have caused him any particular concern. The young man left Geneva before the end of the term, as his father explained, “because he would like to be here for Easter.”5 In fact, his departure was final. Before joining his family, Alberto made a detour via Oschwand, visiting his godfather. During this stay, Amiet made a portrait of his godson, and together they painted landscapes in the outskirts of Bern. The apprentice artist also did drawings in silverpoint, as well as watercolors.  Amiet introduced him to the work of Gauguin, who was a huge influence on  Amiet.  “I became convinced that the sky was blue only by convention, but red in reality,”6 Alberto later said of this period. He then stopped off in Soleure to see Josef Müller, a friend of his godfather’s, who had put him up several times in Geneva during the semester. A son of a Swiss industrialist, Müller studied with Amiet and was to become a shrewd collector, going on to assemble a pioneering collection of non-Western art in the 1920s. The break in Stampa was short. By May, the young man was setting off for Venice with Giovanni, who had been officially appointed to the Swiss selection committee for the Biennale. Something of a voyage of discovery, this first journey with his father began auspiciously. The Swiss section was received favorably, Giovanni recorded, “because one finds here artists who have remained faithful to themselves, to their nature, and because they bring a note of freshness.”7 This judgment encapsulates  Giovanni’s vision of art, one which he handed down to his son. Together they walked around the national pavilions. Alberto was most impressed by the Soviet stand, dedicated to Archipenko, and it was probably on this occasion that he met the Russian artist, in whose studio he would later stay in Paris. However, it was not contemporary art that caused the seminal shock during the Venetian trip, but exposure to classical painting. He was bowled over by Tintoretto above all: “I spent the whole month running all over the city, worried there might be just one of his canvases hidden away in a church corner or elsewhere. For me Tintoretto was a marvelous discovery; it was a curtain opening onto a new world, yet one which reflected the real world around me. I loved him with an exclusive, partisan love, I had only hostility and antipathy for the other Venetian painters, for Veronese and Titian (not for Bellini, I admired him from afar, but he wasn’t necessary to me at this time).”8 The journey in Italy was essentially an artistic baptism. Referring to this aesthetic experience thirty years later, Alberto once again could barely contain the enthusiasm and lyricism it had stirred within him. It was so important to him that he entitled the article recalling the event with just the date, “May 1920,” as if to indicate a turning point, a rebirth. On the way back he visited Padua. There, he was captivated by the discovery of Giotto, to the point that even his love of Tintoretto cooled. “On entering the Scrovegni Chapel in Padua and standing before the Giotto, I received a punch right in the chest. I lost my bearings and didn’t know where I was, immediately feeling both immense sorrow and huge regret. This punch also hit Tintoretto. I was irresistibly overwhelmed by Giotto’s power, crushed by these immutable figures, as dense as basalt, with their precise and matchless gestures, heavy with expression and often infinite tenderness, like Mary’s hand touching the cheek of the dead Christ.”9 


			The way the artist describes the powerful emotional shock of these aesthetic discoveries shows how different he was from his father, who described the same event as follows: “And so to Padua. Here is Giotto. What strikes you first and foremost is the calm and clarity of the composition, the grandeur and roundness of the forms. One cannot tear oneself away from this inner truth, from such an unwavering gaze. A window opened in my eyes. To still dare handle a brush myself seems human and excusable.”10 


			Giovanni’s measure and humility were far from being shared by Alberto, who, almost violent in his emotional response, was enthralled exclusively by aesthetic forms that were “necessary at that moment” for him.


			Autumn saw him on a second journey to Italy, this time alone, first spending a month in Florence. Visiting the archaeology museum, he particularly admired the Egyptian department. “Over these last few days I’ve been going to the museum of Egyptian art. Now that’s real sculpture. They subtract everything they have to from the whole figure, there’s not even a hole to put a hand in. One has, however, a truly extraordinary impression of movement and form.”11 This reference to Egyptian art was crucial to his later sculpture. 


			Copying Michelangelo’s sculptures in the Medici Chapel, he encountered the art of Bernini. Baroque statuary generally, which he had never seen prior to this journey, was to join the pantheon. He then went on to Assisi, where he admired Cimabue’s frescos, and to Perugia. Throughout this lengthy tour, he filled several sketchbooks with copies of the works that struck him, noting his impressions. Traveling through Italian cities on a quest for new experiences, he did not forget to ask about art classes to avoid interrupting his apprenticeship for too long. “I was in Florence a month, but because I wanted to work there and didn’t find anything, I came via Perugia and Assisi to Rome in the hope of finding plenty of academies and open painting schools here. Of course, the first few days I just wandered from one corner of the city to the other, but, when I began to look for something, I didn’t find anything, nothing at all: the academies were overflowing, the free courses had ended, the evening courses were impossible to attend—no one bit better in Florence, in other words. But the city is wonderful.... You can find everything you want here: museums, churches, wonderful ruins . . . lots of theater, lovely concerts almost every day . . . for the present, I’m staying here.”12 


			Although they lived in the countryside far from all cultural entertainment, Giovanni and Annetta had transmitted a taste for music and the performing arts to their children. In the family’s letters there are many references to plays and especially to classical music concerts that delighted both parents and children. It was a love Alberto never lost and, as he claimed, for a while it detained him in Rome. In fact, he was to spend nine months in the city, put up by his uncle, Antonio Giacometti, for most of 1921. It wasn’t just cultural life and artistic marvels (Byzantine mosaics, Rubens, the Laocoön) that retained him; there was also his cousin, Bianca, with whom he fell in love. No sooner had he arrived than he ran to the museums, filled with wonder at what he saw and filling his sketchbooks with copies. “It is incredibly rich and always new! And, although I’ve not worked much, not much at all in fact, all these things will not be lost, and one or other will always float back into my memory. Anyhow, I’ve never been as impatient or as eager to draw, paint, and sculpt after such a long time doing nothing.”13 


			In spite of his enthusiasm, the following months were not especially productive. Painting most of the time, he did also some skillful drawings of his aunt and of members of a family he befriended, the Singers, as well as sculpting some portraits. He spent several weeks struggling to model a bust of Bianca, but was unsuccessful. Impervious to his advances, the young woman found the sittings tedious. Alberto soon lost the self-confidence that had guided his hand when he started sculpting, now encountering the same problem that had beset him in Geneva at life-drawing classes. Representation, for which he was naturally so gifted, started to elude him. “I was off track, everything slipped through my fingers, the model’s head before me resembled a vague cloud without limits.... I found it completely beyond me to capture the general shape of a head.”14 Destroying or abandoning these fruitless attempts, the whole sorry episode left him embittered. He realized that the artist he was so intent on becoming would have to overcome problems that the enthusiastic and naive beginner had been completely unaware of. 


			Alberto mentioned this stumbling block to his father, who reassured him and advised him to take his cue from artists of the past (from whom the moderns, as he explained, had wrongly turned away) and embark on his own personal creative path. “Now you have seen so many things, you must grow accustomed to working and producing yourself. The great masterpieces of every era are the best masters, combined with the eternal inspiration, Nature.”15 This exchange also gave Giovanni the opportunity to warn his son against some of the more recent artistic advances, such as “metaphysical abstract painting” of which he did not think highly. “Certainly, the artist has always been confronted with new problems and art is a flowing current that should not be left to stagnate. Every period has its own art and an artist cannot and should not keep his distance from the spirit of the age. Yet, for all that, it doesn’t seem wise to me to push theories to absurd limits, leading to results that our healthy judgment can no longer understand.”16 


			Living in Rome also meant learning to be an autonomous adult and discovering political issues. If in letters to his parents he concentrated on his artistic discoveries and personal uncertainties, Alberto was far from cut off from the real world. Watching Fascism begin to take root, he noted its progress with concern. “The Fascists are flexing their muscles and gaining ground and it is possible that D’Annunzio might also make an entrance on the political stage. One Sunday I saw a Fascist demonstration, it was grandiose and it made me shiver, thousands of people so united and compact. Naturally, with my friends and acquaintances, we defend bolshevism and socialism as best we can.”17 


			The two sojourns in Italy proved seminal on many levels, and his experiences at this time remained etched in his memory. The masterpieces he had up until now only admired in books revealed all their power, and he developed an ability to navigate in the present between different historical epochs and in very different styles. He also flirted with a new way of life—that of the city, of discussions with friends in cafés, of politics. Discovering love, he also frequented brothels, where he had his first sexual experiences. Leaving off his country dress, he now wore the clothes of an elegant city dweller. It was at this time that Alberto adopted the look he was to keep for the rest of his life: tweed jacket, shirt and tie, and holding his inevitable cigarette. This is the outfit in which he depicts himself—brush raised and proudly staring down the viewer—in his first self-portrait as an artist he painted once back in Stampa.


			

		




		

			
CHAPTER 3 



			Death Up Close 


			 


			On the train during a trip to Paestum and Pompeii with a friend in early spring 1921, Alberto got talking to an elderly man. He could not then have known that this friendly encounter would leave an indelible stamp on his existence. Some time later, the gentleman, a Dutch librarian, suggested Alberto accompany him on a trip he was thinking of taking to the Italian Alps and Venice. Alberto agreed and joined Mr. Van Meurs on September 1 as they set off together through Italy. They got off to a good start and Alberto’s first letters to his parents are upbeat: “The gentleman is very refined and cultured, he knows so many things and thus our time passes agreeably enough,”1 he wrote shortly after their departure. On the second evening they arrived at Merano, taking rooms in a good inn. “Mr. Van Meurs is very nice and very cultivated, he is a great one for the mountains and knows Switzerland ten times better than I do. He is also keen on flowers and plants, teaching me about them at every step, I’ve learned practically all their names! And then he protects animals, which, he says, are all our brothers, so that he doesn’t even eat meat!”2 But an utterly unexpected event was to occur. On the fourth day, Alberto sent his parents a letter in a completely different tone: “My dear ones, I am still full of terror and astonishment, I feel lost. Fate can be so inexplicable and terrible. Less than three hours ago, Mr. Van Meurs died in the presence of me and a chambermaid. It’s appalling, it seems incomprehensible.”3 


			Deeply shocked, he described the circumstances of this sudden death: “Until 10.30 pm., he seemed fine, in a good mood, happily puffing at a cigar and chatting about the journeys he wanted to go on. He was one of the most delicate and dignified people I’ve ever met, as I already wrote to you, very cultivated and of rare kindness and nobility of spirit. An hour before we got there he’d had a little stomach pain, then, at 2 o’clock in the morning (I had the room next door), I heard him groan awfully, and I found him sitting on his bed writhing in agony. It was a horrible night, and finally at 7 we managed to get a doctor to come. He did not seem so bad, but from time to time he would wail in a terrifying, atrocious, indescribable way, so the doctor gave him an injection and he fell asleep.” Following an uneventful morning, Alberto found his companion in a bad way. “I went in and found him lying on the floor, his eyes wide open, ghastly. I put him to bed. He was really bad, but he was conscious and did not speak about death.” As the doctor could not be contacted, it was the despairing Alberto who took care of the dying man. “Van Meurs was a royal archivist, he was sixty-four and full of life and hope. How dreadful it is, dreadful, dreadful, life is like this.” 


			This first face-to-face with death—rendered particularly violent by its dramatic and unexpected character—proved a defining experience. It was to leave a deep scar, not only on the young man of twenty, but also on the artist he became. His letters to his parents reveal the paradoxical nature of his personality: anguished but not apprehensive—he had no qualms about accepting an offer to travel with a total stranger—precocious, yet still naive and immature. Following his first trip to Italy, this was a second experience of adulthood, an initiation that expelled him from the land of his childhood. Unlike the first trip, an outpouring of enthusiasm and joy, this journey taught him a profound lesson about life: “it is dreadful, dreadful, life is like this....” Continuing his journey regardless, he traveled to Venice, taking without permission, “as a precaution,”4 money his parents had put aside. He went out all night, frequenting cafés and prostitutes. Life returned to normal, but he was deeply affected by his experience and its memory was to haunt him. Years later, in an article, he described the death of Van Meurs as a crucial stage in the myth of his artistic trajectory. “The Dream, the Sphinx, and the Death of T.,” published in 1946,5 illustrates the way in which Alberto would re-examine certain events, perceived in retrospect as significant, and use them to shed light on the motivations behind his art. His account of the death in the article differs from how he described it at the time, projecting an aesthetic quality onto the whole experience. “I watched as Van M.’s head underwent a transformation (the nose became more and more prominent, the cheeks grew hollow, the almost motionless, gaping mouth could hardly breathe, and, toward evening, as I tried to draw his profile, I was seized by the sudden fear that he was going to die).”


			Writing some time after the incident, Alberto chose to add a note to the text in which he confirms the importance of the original memory. “The journey I made in 1921 (the death of Van Mr. and all the events surrounding it) was for me like a hole right through my life. Everything looked different and the trip remained an obsession for a whole year. I would talk about it endlessly and, although I often wanted to write about it, I always found it impossible.”6 That the ordeal felt like an initiation was exacerbated by the artist’s retrospective evocation of certain premonitions. Alberto recalled that, at Van Meurs’s bedside, he read a letter from Flaubert to Maupassant containing the following passage: “Did you ever believe in the existence of things? Isn’t it more likely that everything is an illusion? The only true thing is our rapport with reality, that is, our perception of things.”7 In reality, the young artist had not immediately grasped Flaubert’s insight concerning perception. It took him several years to understand how decisive the experience of Van Meurs’s death—together with his disappointments in Rome—was to be for his vocation. It was only through the filter of several similar experiences that he was to understand that his artistic personality was forged through such trials. His artistic path was not to be determined by his early talent for imitation, but by the struggle to create.


			

		




		

			
CHAPTER 4 



			Settling Down in Paris 


			 


			Once Alberto had recovered from the appalling experience of Mr. Van Meurs’s death, it was time once again to think about how he could continue his studies. His stint in Geneva had been unfruitful and going back to the school was out of the question. He had acquired a few friends, however, including Kurt Seligmann and Hans Stocker, whom he was to meet up with later in Paris. Although he was inclined to choose Vienna to continue his artistic training, his father convinced him to move to Paris instead. Giovanni advised him to enroll in a “free” academy, instead of the École des Beaux-Arts, where the teaching had become fossilized. Alberto decided on the Académie de la Grande Chaumière that his father had attended twenty years before. Opting for sculpture, he registered at the studio of Antoine Bourdelle. Alberto arrived in Paris on January 9, 1922. His father recommended he arrange to meet some Swiss artists in the city, who could help him find his feet, and indeed a number of countrymen were among his first friends. He had barely settled in before he became a regular at the Louvre and the ethnography museum at the Trocadéro. He kept up a regular correspondence with his family and soon received a visit from his father. Though delighted to be in Paris, Alberto nonetheless suffered from homesickness that his mother attempted to assuage with her affectionate letters. That summer, he had to leave for Switzerland to undertake his military service and was barracked at Herisau until mid-September. Making the most of the soldier’s life, he spent his leave visiting museums and exhibitions in St. Gallen and Winterthur. Then, before returning to Paris, he stopped off in Stampa where preparations were being made to celebrate Diego’s twentieth birthday.1 It was on this occasion that Alberto painted a full-length portrait of his brother.2 In the course of this first year, he had spent nearly five months in Switzerland. On his return to Paris, where, at the beginning, he had lodged in boarding-houses, he finally obtained a studio—Archipenko, about to move to Berlin, sublet him his. He wrote to his parents expressing his joy at finally getting his hands on a studio of his own. His mother replied: “I’ve so often tried to picture you in your studio. I can see you stoking the stove amid complete chaos. I’d love to make your bed, perhaps I’d scold you too, but I’d still love you all the same.”3 At the Grande Chaumière he was particularly assiduous at life-drawing classes and sketching and modeling. Bourdelle visited the workshop once a week, giving a talk and making corrections. His personality, like his teaching, was held in great respect. A former assistant of Rodin’s, the sculptor’s style was at once more traditional and lyrical than his master’s. He was particularly thorough regarding theory and sought to stimulate his students’ curiosity and reflection. They, in turn, both appreciated and feared his diktats. “Thursday. Eleven thirty. Sound the alarm. A taxi has just drawn up in front of number 14 rue de la Grande Chaumière. A Pole with cornflower eyes runs from group to group with his finger over his mouth: ‘M. Bourdelle’s here!’ The master appears wearing a short, loose-fitting, slate-gray smock. He can scarcely cut a path through the forest of sculptor’s stands and tunics. ‘Before correcting your works, my friends, I would like to read to you a few thoughts I jotted down a moment ago under the title: “To understand completely is to equal!” To truly see an object does not consist in checking if the model’s nose is cute or not; it is to see where precisely the nose attaches to the base of the forehead, its exact relationship to the eyes, to seek for things in all their depth. It means, in short, cleaving close to truth, and that, that’s a great strength. That is the role of intelligence. Be advised that somebody able to copy an object exactly (see here, this clay ball I’ve just crushed in my fingers), he would be a great, a very great artist. To see, in the true meaning of the word, an object just as it is, one needs to observe astutely, to possess an ordered mind.’”4


			To his pupils Bourdelle praised the qualities of Greek, Mesopotamian, and Egyptian art and also of non-Western traditional arts. He was fond of challenging his students’ academic prejudices. During one class, he extolled the perfection of the form of a car, to which Alberto reacted with indignation. More open-minded than his practice might suggest, the master also introduced them to the formal advances of cubism: “You hear every sort of imbecility about cubism! The poor public! Modern tendencies in art deserve to be watched carefully. Cubism was not only far from the “madness” the art pontiffs declared it to be, it was a necessary corrective to the disordered fantasy from which the drawings suffered.... We should be thankful to cubism for the healthy results it had, even if they consisted only in creating a brusque reaction against the pomposity of academic art. Perhaps we will experience a new renaissance one of these days!” 


			Contrary to what Alberto later claimed, the teaching at the Grande Chaumière was useful for his development, and he benefited greatly from both the life-drawing classes and Bourdelle’s observations. The sculptor was lavish in his advice and encouragement. “Bourdelle came to the workshop and was very pleased with my work, and, as we are Swiss, with three others who are very good too, he came up to me to look and joked ‘Yes, long live Switzerland’.”5


			The sculptor’s specific method of teaching drawing, which consisted in subjecting the object to a prismatic geometrical decomposition and reconfiguring it as a faceted volume, aided Alberto in overcoming his difficulties in representation. He attended the courses regularly for three years, from 1922 to 1925, then less diligently over the following two years. Even though he took a critical view of some of Bourdelle’s theories, Alberto was always interested in his observations, reporting the main thrust of his remarks to his father. “Tomorrow, we’ve got Bourdelle. He’s always got something new to say.”6 Later, when his work had turned down a path completely at odds with Bourdelle’s, Giacometti remained attached to some of the fundamental values promoted by his master. These included the primacy of the work of the mind over that of the hands, the importance of drawing for a sculptor, an interest in the arts of early antiquity, in particular Eastern antiquities, and the importance of cultural memory, which all remained constants in his oeuvre.


			The Académie de la Grande Chaumière provided him with a friendly environment that offered some distraction from his loneliness. The private academies of Paris were hotbeds, which attracted students from all over the world. Alberto was thrown into a community of young artists from Serbia, Russia, Croatia, Sweden, Denmark, the United States, China, and Japan. Closest to him were his Swiss classmates, Otto Bänninger and Arnold Geissbuhler. “For a foreigner,” he was to explain later, “nothing is harder than forging contacts with the French. There’s this wall.... Arriving in Paris I knew people at the Grande Chaumière, that is, just foreigners, except for one Frenchman (who, in any case, I saw very little), and it got to about 1930 without my getting to know any French people, or 1928, and even then....”7 


			Alberto never lost his strong accent and for a long time felt he did not belong to any community. “I felt really lonely, yet I made no complaint.”8 As compensation for solitude, though, came freedom. The young artist was by now twenty-one, and, free of responsibilities, he was set on discovering life. He never competed with fellow students at the academy, concentrating instead on his own endeavors. “Giacometti was different from all the other students in that he seemed to have no need to be one of the best. He sometimes gave the impression of being lazy and passive,”9 one fellow student, Bror Hjorth, recalled, adding: “With his brown curls, quietly introspective, and with a tendency to philosophize, he made an unusual acquaintance.”10 Alberto, however, became sufficiently well integrated to sit for several fellow students. In 1922, he posed for a bust by a classmate, Sreten Stojanović, and the following year his features appeared on one of the figures on a war memorial by Geissbuhler. In exchange, he also used his friends as models, writing to his sister that he was carrying out a bust of an American “with black hair.”11 He also sat for himself in a self-portrait and made anatomical studies, such as a “torso with arms and head.”12 During this period of training he would regularly visit the Louvre, and he also rubbed up against more modern currents. “The other day it was the Salon d’Automne. There were some interesting paintings and sculptures, but all in all it gave the curious impression of a mass meeting of the unbalanced, deliberately naive, and more or less ill, and yet basically interesting.”13 


			The year 1923, however, began with Giacometti in dire straits, and he was often utterly disheartened. For the first time he had not spent Christmas with his family, and, by the beginning of March, he was telling his parents how deeply discouraged he was. In a concerned and insightful letter, Giovanni did his best to encourage him. “I’ve known periods of discouragement and dissatisfaction, but they are perhaps the most advantageous time for study. It is as if nothing goes right, you see only insurmountable difficulties, and then, one fine day, you suddenly realize that you have made progress, that you have reached another step on the interminable ladder toward perfection, though you can never reach the top. Art is like that. It’s like a Fata Morgana14 that’s always hovering in front of your eyes, but which always keeps its distance. Of course, you should not be satisfied easily nor be afraid of destroying and redoing, but, in the same way as you cannot reach the top of a mountain in a single stride, but only by climbing from peak to peak and stopping to catch your breath, with just one work you cannot achieve the perfection, or relative perfection, you are aiming for. So I believe that, when you have made meaningful advances in a study, it is better to keep the sketch for its good qualities, and to start a new one to advance still further, relying on previous experience. Certain studies are also useful for comparison and are like the foothills where you get your breath back before continuing to the summit. But all life is like that. I can’t wait to see your work.”15 


			Obliged to leave Archipenko’s studio in February—the artist left to settle permanently in the United States—for more than a year Alberto had a frequent change of address. In support, his parents came to spend Easter in Paris, visiting the museums and spending a day at Chartres. Alberto also spent the summer with the family in Maloja. During the last trimester, his anguish receded and he got back to work.16 Seeing as sculpture eluded him, he returned to painting. For several weeks, he concentrated on a skull that absorbed him completely. “By chance I came upon a skull someone lent me. I so wanted to paint it that I dropped the academy for the whole winter. I spent days trying to find the root, the starting point of a tooth that goes up very high, close to the nose, to follow it as closely as possible, in all its changes of direction, to the point that, if I’d wanted to do the entire skull, it’d have been completely beyond me, so I was practically reduced to doing the lower section, that is, the mouth, the nose, and what surrounded them at most, and nothing above.”17 If he did not stop attending the academy entirely, he began the habit of working more outside school. He continued to share his thoughts about Bourdelle’s teaching with his father, who, for the most part, would share his son’s viewpoint. “Bourdelle’s observations, when he claims that a car’s bodywork is as artistically significant as a cathedral, is a ‘gag’ that even he himself cannot take seriously,” he had replied after Alberto’s clash with his teacher.18 In December, Alberto added a new chapter to what Giovanni called his “dialogue slash argument” with Bourdelle. During one drawing class the master had called into question the importance his students attached to life drawing. 


			Much put out, the young man confronted his master, reasserting his belief in the inherent and absolute bond between art and nature. “Bourdelle says: ‘Tell me, does the model interest you?’ As nobody answered and he continued to wait, I said ‘yes,’ in good faith. Him: ‘Me, not at all.’ Me: (open-mouthed). Him: ‘You can’t do anything interesting with it, it becomes a tedious thing, never a work of art.’ Me: ‘But an artist who senses the beauty of the model and who is really strong, can’t he make a work of art?’ Him: ‘Not if he’s just strong with his hands.’ Me: ‘Of course. I mean someone who can really see what’s interesting in the figure.’ Him: ‘That’s not seen with the eyes, but with the spirit.’”19
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